FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 3/13/2023 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

101769-3

No. 56996-5-II

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

TERRY COUSINS, as personal representative of the ESTATE OF RENEE FIELD, deceased,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON and DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS,

Appellee.

AMENDED PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

Joe Shaeffer WSBA #33273 MacDONALD HOAGUE & BAYLESS 705 2nd Avenue, Suite 1500 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 622-1604 ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner Terry Cousins, both individually and as the personal representative of her sister's estate, was the Plaintiff and Appellant in the proceedings below. She had requested documents related to the death of Ms. Cousins' sister while in the custody of the Department of Corrections.

II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Petitioner Terry Cousins seeks review of the published decision of the Court of Appeals, Division II, filed on January 31, 2023. That 2-1 decision (Glasgow, J., dissenting) is attached as Appendix A.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The issues presented for review in this petition are as follows:

1. The Court of Appeals affirmed the dismissal of this case based on the statute of limitations, holding that an agency's "closing" of a request is the "final definitive response" that starts the statute of limitations period even where the agency later produces responsive records. Here, the Department "reopened" Ms. Cousins' request and produced more than 1,000 pages of documents under the same request

number. Is the Court of Appeals decision, which followed Division II's holding in *Dotson v. Pierce County*, 13 Wn. App. 2d 455, 464 P.3d 563 (2020), in conflict with this Court's holding in *Belenksi v. Jefferson County*, 186 Wn.2d 452, 378 P.3d 178 (2016) and contrary to the plain language of the statute, which states that the statute of limitations runs from an agency's "last production of records"?

- 2. The "bright line" rule of *Dotson* is that when an agency "closes" a request for public records, that word starts the statute of limitations period of one year. That rule has led to a series of decisions in which agencies have silently withheld documents for substantial periods of time without consequence or accountability and with serious prejudice to requestors, including *Earl v. City of Tacoma*, COA No. 56160-3-II, Unpublished Decision of July 12, 2022, and *Ehrhart v. King County*, COA No. 55498-4-II, Unpublished Decision of August 30, 2022. Does this "bright line" rule present an issue of substantial public interest that should be reviewed by this Court?
 - 3. The Court of Appeals below and in *Dotson* held

that the "discovery rule" does not apply to Public Records Act cases, instead relying on the doctrine of equitable tolling, which requires a showing of bad faith on the part of the agency. Is that holding in conflict with this Court's holding in *U.S. Oil & Ref. Co. v. State Dep't of Ecology*, 96 Wn.2d 85, 93, 633 P.2d 1329, 1334 (1981), and does the rejection of the "discovery rule" in PRA cases present issue of substantial public interest that should be reviewed by this Court?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Renee Field was in DOC custody in January 2016 at Mission Creek Corrections Center for Women when she reported a medical emergency regarding a sudden onset of neck and head pain. CP 102 lns 18-22. Over the course of the next two months, Ms. Field reported increasingly worrisome symptoms. CP 102:22-103:1. CP 103 lns 4-5. Rather than sending her to the Emergency Department, medical staff sent her back to her unit in a wheelchair where she suffered a seizure. CP 103 lns. 5-7. Medical staff then transferred her to Women's Correctional Center for Women, where she was immediately sent to the Emergency Department. CP 103 lns 7-

8. Scans showed Ms. Field had a large brain hemorrhage and aneurysm. CP 103 lns 9-10. She died one week later on March 14, 2016.

Since that time, Terry Cousins, sister of Renee Field and Personal Representative for her Estate, has been trying to understand what happened to her sister and whether and why the medical staff failed to properly diagnose and treat Renee. 106:20-107:7. On July 21, 2016, Ms. Cousins, through an attorney made a public records request to the DOC for "any and all records regarding Renee A. Field...from January 1, 2014 to present." CP 103 lns 19-22.

The DOC acknowledged the request and produced installments one and two through the next ten (10) months. CP 103 lns 22-23; CP 104 lns 4-6. Based on the first and second installment of records, Ms. Cousins and her attorney wrote to the records specialist handling the request to alert her to several records they had noticed that had been referred to in the prior installments, but not produced. CP 490-92. These included:

• An incident report relating to an altercation noted in a

Primary Encounter Report, the day Ms. Field declared the first

medical emergency, written by the nurse who initially evaluated M. Field. CP 491.

- Five attachments referred to in a memorandum from Sgt.
 M. Curneen to a Supt. E Vernell that discuss conducting an internal review. CP 492.
- The complete file of "IR Investigation 01-169-16," including all investigation/incident reports, statements, handwritten notes, memos, emails, correspondence, and all other records, related in any way to IR Investigation 01-169-16. CP 492.
- Letters written by Ms. Field's fiancée addressed to two different offenders. CP 492.

The Department responded and stated that the request was still open and responsive records would be produced in future installments. CP 499. The Department subsequently produced four more installments between July 26, 2017, and September 20, 2018. CP 104 lns 12-13. None of the installments contained the specific responsive records described above, and many contained duplicate and unresponsive records. CP 104 lns 14-15. On October 31, 2018, the DOC emailed Ms.

Cousins alerting her that the seventh installment was ready and would be produced upon receiving payment. CP 104 16-19.

On January 4, 2019, Ms. Cousins emailed the records specialist asking for an update as to the status of the seventh installment. CP 501-502. She received a response that same day informing her that the DOC had yet to receive payment for the installment. CP 502. This came as news to Ms. Cousins, as she had previously sent a check on November 20, 2018, for the full amount. CP 104 lns 20-21. Regardless, she promptly resent the check to the Department. CP 507. The Department sent the seventh installment to Ms. Cousins on January 17, 2019. CP 507. The DOC included a cover letter with the seventh installment that stated Ms. Cousins' request "is now closed." CP 507. The Department closed her request on December 10, 2018, for failure to pay. CP 590.

Five days later, Ms. Cousins wrote the Department inquiring both about medical and chemical dependency records and about the documents she had specifically noted were missing after the second installment. CP 513. Cousins also believed there were additional records that had yet to be

produced, especially with regard to her sister's medical emergency in March 2016. CP 662. At this point, of the seven installments the DOC had produced, one yielded only financial records, another contained documents that had already been produced, and still another included erroneous records from outside the scope of the request. CP 661 lns. 7-10; 17-24.

In response to Ms. Cousins' email, the records specialist handling the request stated she would look into the status of the medical and chemical dependency records but did not address the missing documents. CP 513. Ms. Cousins reiterated her request for the missing documents in addition to the medical and chemical dependency reports. CP 512 -513. On January 23, 2019, the DOC directed Ms. Cousins to the location of the medical and chemical dependency records but again did not address the missing documents. CP 512. Once more, Ms. Cousins asked about them. CP 511. A week later, after hearing nothing back from the Department, Ms. Cousins followed up again, this time stating that this was a time-sensitive issue because the deadline was approaching to file a tort claim for her sister's death and she needed those documents. CP 511. The

Department has admitted that it should have reopened Ms. Cousins' request at this point, but that it failed to do so. CP 580:17-81:4.

At this point, Ms. Cousins believed the DOC was continuing its search for the responsive records and that her request was still open. CP 105 lns 9-13. In the past, the DOC frequently did not communicate with Ms. Cousins for weeks or months between installments and until this point, each installment regularly took four to five months to be produced. CP 105 lns 9-13.

After hearing nothing for five months, in June 2019, Ms. Cousins called the records specialist handling the request and left a voicemail. CP 115. Unbeknownst to Ms. Cousins, that particular employee left the Department in April 2019. CP 558 lns. 2-4. No one from the Department returned Ms. Cousins' call. CP 105 ln. 15. On September 4, 2019, Ms. Cousins called again and left another voicemail. CP 116. Still no one returned her call. CP 105 ln. 15. She then sent an email to the Department on October 14, 2019. CP 105 lns.17-18. Ms. Cousins followed up again and called the records unit on

October 24, 2019, and again the next day on October 25, 2019. CP 117. Each time she left a voicemail asking that someone at the unit call her back regarding her request. CP 117.

Finally, on October 29, 2019, DOC Records Specialist Supervisor Paula Terrell emailed Ms. Cousins responding to Ms. Cousins' voicemail message about her public records request. CP 517. Ms. Terrell and Ms. Cousins then exchanged emails for the better part of the next month. CP 516-538. In each exchange, Ms. Terrell dispensed untrue information and placed barriers in Ms. Cousins' path to getting her records. CP 516-538. For instance, Ms. Terrell initially told Ms. Cousins she was not the requestor of her records request. CP 517. Once Ms. Cousins corrected her, she then told Ms. Cousins that the request is closed and attached the cover letter sent with the seventh installment. CP 518-22. Ms. Cousins informed Ms. Terrell that she received that cover letter but that she had followed up with the records specialist initially handling the request and alerted her to documents that were missing from production. CP 524-31.

Rather than reopen the request, Ms. Terrell told Ms.

Cousins her request had been closed because the Department had not received payment for the seventh installment. CP 528. Again, Ms. Cousins' corrected her and pointed her in the direction of the documents demonstrating as much and reiterating that she had still not received all the records as previously explained. CP 537-38. Ms. Terrell never responded to this email. CP 106 ln. 4. At deposition, Ms. Terrell could not explain why she had not responded, admitted there were still outstanding documents that needed to be produced and admitted that she should have reopened the request at that time. CP 572:21-73:21, 574:15-575:19, 579:16-25.

On July 7, 2020, Ms. Cousins wrote to Ms. Terrell saying she had not heard back from her regarding her unfinished records request and once again pointed to certain documents she was missing. CP 537. Eight days later, on July 15, 2020, Ms. Terrell **reopened Ms. Cousins' request** and told her that she would proceed accordingly and anticipated providing Ms. Cousins with the next installment of records within 30 business days. CP 535-36. At deposition, Ms. Terrell explained that she reopened the request because there were documents that had not

been produced. CP 578:20-79:25.

The Department then resumed sending Ms. Cousins installments from July 2020, until the last installment in August 2021. CP 106 lns 10-16. The Department did not require Ms. Cousins to resubmit a new request, nor did it assign the request a new number. CP 106 lns. 8-9. Instead, it picked up exactly where it left off in January 2019 and produced installment eight on October 1, 2020. CP 106 lns. 10-11. Within a year, the Department produced ten more installments and over 1,000 pages, many of which were documents Ms. Cousins had not previously received and which were core to her investigation into her sister's death. CP 106 lns. 17-19.

Notably, installment sixteen, produced on June 23, 2021, contained over 300 pages that had not been previously produced, most of which had a "print date" of August 30, 2016, indicating they had been collected in response to Ms. Cousins' request, but not provided for nearly five years. CP 106 lns. 12-13; 119-425. At that time, the Department stated Ms. Cousins' request was "now closed." CP 106 lns. 14-15. However, on August 18, 2021, the Department produced yet another

installment of responsive records that it had never before produced. CP 106 ln. 16.

Ms. Cousins filed this lawsuit against the Department, seeking accountability for failure to produce records for over 4 years. The Superior Court felt bound by the *Dotson* rule despite the fact that the Department in this case had "reopened" the request, and dismissed the case after finding that the Department had not acted in bad faith under an equitable tolling analysis. Division II affirmed on January 31, 2023, in a 2-1 decision, with the Honorable Rebecca Glasgow dissenting.

V. ARGUMENT

In passing the Public Records Act, the Washington
Legislature expressly mandated that "[t]his chapter shall be
liberally construed, and its exemptions narrowly construed to
promote this public policy and to assure that the public interest
will be fully protected." RCW 42.56.030; see also Wade's

Eastside Gun Shop, Inc. v. Dep't of Labor and Indus., 185
Wn.2d 270, 277, 372 P.3d 97 (2016). It also required agencies
to adopt and enforce reasonable rules and regulations that
"provide for the fullest assistance to inquirers and the most

timely possible action on requests for information." See RCW 42.56.100; RCW 42.56.080 ("Public records shall be available for inspection and copying, and agencies shall, upon request for identifiable public records, make them promptly available to any person....);" see also Spokane Research & Def. Fund v. City of Spokane, 255 Wn.2d 89, 100, 117 P.3d 1117 (2005). In light of the statute's purpose, "courts must avoid interpreting the PRA in a way that would tend to frustrate that purpose." Worthington v. Westnet, 182 Wn.2d 500, 507, 341 P.3d 995 (2015). It is through this lens that the Court of Appeals decision must be viewed in this case.

A. Division II's Decisions Below and in Prior Cases Is Conflict with This Court's Decision in *Belenski* And The Plain Language of the Statute

The plain language of RCW 42.56.550(6) provides that a claim of action under the PRA "must be filed within one year of the agency's claim of exemption *or the last production of a record* on a partial or installment basis." (emphasis added). This Court clarified that the one-year statute of limitations begins on an agency's "final, definitive response to a public records

request." Belenski, 186 Wn.2d at 460. In Belenski, this Court dealt with conflicting decisions among the Court of Appeals as to what is sufficient to trigger the statute of limitations. This Court held that reading RCW 42.56.550(6) to allow only two options to trigger the statute of limitations is too narrow and that there may be more than two ways in which an agency can answer a request. The Court then found that an agency's final, definitive response triggers the statute of limitations and stated the "theme of finality should apply to begin the statute of limitations for all possible responses under the PRA." *Belenski*, 186 Wn.2d. at 460. However, the Court opined that there are "legitimate concerns that allowing the statute of limitations to run based on an agency's dishonest response could incentivize agencies to intentionally withhold information and then avoid liability due to the expiration of the statute of limitations." Belenski, 186 Wn.2d at 461. The Court remanded the case for application of the doctrine of equitable tolling. As such, this Court expanded the ways in which an agency may respond to a PRA request but did not intend to limit an agency's liability.

In *Dotson v. Pierce County*, the Court of Appeals did just that, taking the holding in *Belenksi* a giant step further by holding that a "closing letter" alone suffices to bring finality to the request. 13 Wn.App. 455, 471, 464 P.3d 563 (2020). In other words, under the *Dotson* rule, a "closing letter" is dispositive in triggering the one-year statute of limitations by acting as *the* final, definitive, agency response. *Id.* at 472.

The *Dotson* court's holding elevates form over function, ignores the plain language of the statute, and is in direct conflict with this Court's reasoning in *Belenksi*. *Dotson* bestows preclusive effect on something called a "closing letter," a term that is found nowhere in the statute or regulations, even where the agency subsequently produces additional documents. In doing this, *Dotson* makes the statutory language "last production of a record" superfluous. At a minimum, the subsequent production of records renders the "closing letter" is at best incorrect and legally meaningless, and at worst is a dishonest response from the agency. And in this case the Department even "reopened" the request. That should have had the effect of negating the "closing letter," but even under those

circumstances Division II gave dispositive weight to the closing letter.

If the holding in *Doston* is allowed to stand, agencies will be able to arbitrarily "close" a public records request, triggering the statute of limitations, then silently withhold records (whether negligently or intentionally) for an indefinite period of time while the limitations period runs. As the DOC has done here, an agency could silently withhold records for over a year and escape liability from a suit altogether. This is demonstrative of this Court's concerns in *Belenski* and runs counter to the broad disclosure mandates and agency accountability under the PRA. A closing letter, when followed by additional installments of records, cannot act as the final, definitive response of an agency for the purposes of triggering the statute of limitations. *Dotson* should be overturned, and the judgment in this case reversed.

B. The *Dotson* Rule Has Already Been Used to Shield Public Agencies from Liability, And Presents an Issue of Substantial Public Interest

The negative consequences of *Dotson* rule are not

theoretical. Rather it is having very real and dire consequences. In the short period of time since Division II's decision in that case, at least three agencies have avoided liability after silently withholding documents for over a year, including the Department of Corrections in this case.

In Earl v. City of Tacoma, COA No. 56160-3-II,
Unpublished Decision of July 12, 2022, Tacoma police shot
motorist, Jackie Salyers, eight times, killing her with a shot to
the head. Her mother Lisa Earl filed a public records act request
to find out what happened. Tacoma produced a number of
records and closed the request, stating "there are no other
records responsive to your request." Taking that statement at
face value, and having no reason to believe it wasn't true, Ms.
Earl proceeded with a Federal civil rights case against the
officer and the City.

More than two years later, after discovery had closed, the City produced something called a "Command Post Log," a public record containing a wealth of information core to her claims that had been created at the time of the shooting. There is no dispute that the Log was responsive to Ms. Earl's public

records request, but Tacoma had never produced it and had never listed it on any exemption log. Ms. Earl simply had no way to know that the record existed. She bought suit under the Public Records Act for this egregious silent withholding. The Superior Court dismissed the case under *Dotson*, and refused to apply the discovery rule. The Court of Appeals affirmed. Ms. Earl petitioned for review in this Court (attached as Appendix B), but her petition was rejected.

In *Ehrhart v. King County*, COA No. 55498-4-II,
Unpublished Decision of August 30, 2022, Sandra Ehrhart
wanted to know information about her husband's death caused
by a Hantavirus infection. She made a public records request to
King County regarding the County's response to Hantavirus
cases, including her husband's. The County produced 521
records, and closed the request.

Ms. Ehrhart filed a wrongful death lawsuit some months later and propounded discovery with the Complaint. The County stonewalled and delayed for months, well beyond the one-year statute of limitations period for the Public Record Act case had lapsed. Along the way, the court sanctioned the

County for bad faith. After filing a motion for summary judgment, and one day before the plaintiff's response was due, the County produced 20,000 records, about 500 of which were unquestionably responsive to her original public records request. The County had never provided those documents to Ms. Ehrhart, nor had it disclosed them on an exemption log.

Mr. Ehrhart amended her complaint to include a Public Records Act claim for this egregious silent withholding. The Superior Court dismissed the claim based on the statute of limitations, and refused to apply the discovery rule. Division II affirmed. Ms. Ehrhart sought review in this Court (attached as Appendix C), but her petition was rejected.

Like those cases, Terry Cousins sought records related to the death of a loved one, here, records about her sister's incustody death. As described above, the Department "closed" her request on more than one occasion, once for an alleged failure to pay that turned out to be false, despite Ms. Cousins repeatedly telling the Department that she had not received all responsive records and identifying specific ones the Department had not produced. Ms. Cousins persisted, and eventually the

third records officer to handle her request "reopened" the request and provided an additional approximately 1000 pages of records in several additional installments. Ms. Cousins brought a Public Records Act lawsuit, which was dismissed on statute of limitations grounds after concluding that the requirements under the doctrine of equitable tolling had not been met.

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