FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
4/12/2023 2:36 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 101769-3

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

TERRY COUSINS,

Petitioner,

V.

DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS,

Respondent.

DEPARTMENT'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

TIMOTHY J. FEULNER WSBA #45396 Assistant Attorney General Corrections Division P.O. Box 40116 Olympia, WA 98504 (360) 586-1445

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

III. ARGUMENT

A. The Superior Court and the Court of Appeals Faithfully Applied This Court's Case Law on the PRA's Statute of Limitations

Public Records Act claims are subject to a one year statute of limitations. RCW 42.56.550(6). This limitations period was shortened from five years by the Legislature in 2005 in conjunction with the recodification of the PRA that same legislative session. Laws of 2005, ch. 483, § 5. In *Belenski v. Jefferson County*, 186 Wn.2d 452, 378 P.3d 176 (2016), the Court adopted a rule that the one year statute of limitations applies to "all possible responses under the PRA." *Belenski*, 186 Wn.2d at 460. In doing so, the Court chose to adopt a clear,

administrable rule that did not depend on how the agency responded. In that particular case, the agency informed the requester that there were no responsive records. This Court concluded that the agency's response triggered the statute of limitations regardless of whether the response was "truthful or correct." 186 Wn.2d at 461.

Belenski suggests that the PRA's statute of limitations should be interpreted in a manner that provides clear and workable rules. Since Belenski, the Court of Appeals has consistently determined that a letter informing the requester that the request has been closed is such a final, definitive response. See Dotson v. Pierce Cnty., 13 Wn. App. 2d 455, 470-72, 464 P.3d 563 (2020), review denied, 196 Wn.2d 1018 (2020); Ehrhart v. King Cnty, No. 55498-4-II, 23 Wn. App. 2d 1016, 2022 WL 3754904, at *4 (2022), review denied, 200 Wn.2d 1029 (2023); Earl v. City of Tacoma, No. 56160-3-II, 22 Wn. App. 2d 1050, 2022 WL 2679522, at *5 (2022), review denied, 200 Wn.2d 1017 (2022).

Just like *Belenski* and *Dotson*, the Department's January 17, 2019 letter put Cousins on notice that the Department did not intend to produce additional records. The letter informed her that her request was closed. Given this, if Cousins was dissatisfied with the response—as she now indicates that she immediately was, *see* Cousins' Petition, at 7-8 (indicating she believed there were additional records in January 2019)—she was able to go to court to challenge it.⁶ Indeed, when it came time for Cousins to file her motion to show cause and seek penalties in the superior court, Cousins asked the Court to calculate penalties from the January 17, 2019 letter because that letter was the "closure of her request." CP 656. Implicit in such an argument is recognition that

⁶ Even the dissenting opinion in the Court of Appeals recognized that Cousins "could have brought her a public records lawsuit within one year of the initial closing letter." *Cousins*, 523 P.3d at 893. To conclude that Cousins could have brought a lawsuit at that point, however, inevitably recognizes that her claims accrued at that point. *1000 Virginia Ltd. P'ship v. Vertecs Corp.*, 158 Wn.2d 566, 575, 146 P.3d 423 (2006) ("[A] cause of action accrues when the party has the right to apply to a court for relief."). And if her cause of action accrued at that point, the limitations period began to run, absent some kind of tolling.

she could have filed her PRA lawsuit once she received that January 2019 letter. She did not. Because she failed to file her lawsuit within one year of this closure, her claims were untimely.

Cousins argues that the Court of Appeals decision is inconsistent with *Belenski* and the plain language of RCW 42.56.550(6). Cousins' Petition, at 14-15. However, as discussed above, the Court of Appeals case law is based on *Belenski* and the consistent application of *Belenski*. *Belenski* itself was based on this Court's interpretation of the plain language of the PRA's statute of limitations and a need to adopt a consistent rule of finality "for all possible responses under the PRA." *Belenski*, 186 Wn.2d at 460. The Court of Appeals' decision to adopt such a clear rule in 2020 in *Dotson* and to continue to adhere to such a rule in subsequent cases does not conflict with *Belenski*.

Cousins also raises this Court's discussion in *Belenski* of the argument that a clear rule could incentivize an agency to intentionally withhold records, give a dishonest response, and let the statute of limitations run based on that response. Cousins' Petition, at 15 (citing *Belenski*, 186 Wn.2d at 461). But, crucially, the Court in *Belenski* nonetheless decided to adopt a clear rule and recognized that equitable tolling was the solution to this concern. In this case, Cousins could have—and did in the superior court—attempt to make a showing under equitable tolling. CP 623-31, 1772-73. However, the superior court correctly rejected any application of equitable tolling to the facts of this case. CP 1802. Instead, it concluded that the Department's "search was adequate, reasonable, and conducted in a manner to timely produce the requested records, CP 1794, and again, Cousins does not challenge that determination on appeal.

Moreover, the record in this case does not support any conclusion that the Department attempted to intentionally withhold records. The superior court rejected that idea when it concluded that there was no bad faith on the part of the Department in handling the request and that the Department's search was adequate and reasonable. CP 1794, 1801. And, as the Court of Appeals noted, "there is no indication in the record that

DOC's response was an attempt at manipulation." *Cousins*, 523 P.3d at 890.

In a view that Cousins does not endorse in her petition for review, the dissenting judge would have adopted a different rule that would have amounted to a unique equitable tolling rule. Judge Glasgow would have adopted a multi-factored test to determine when a PRA claim accrues. Cousins, 523 P.3d at 892. This test would consider: (1) the extent of communications from the requester about the completeness of the agency's response; (2) any other notice the agency may have had that its response was incomplete; (3) the extent of additional searches and disclosures that were necessary after the response was initially closed; (4) the nature of any agency communications with the requester about allegations of an incomplete response; and (5) whether the requester diligently pursued any missing records they were aware of. Id. The dissent would have applied this multi-factored test in the first instance to conclude Cousins' claims were timely. *Id.* at 892-93.

Nothing in the plain language of RCW 42.56.550(6) supports this test for determining when the PRA's statute of limitations begins to run. This multi-factor test is inconsistent with this Court's approach in *Belenski*, adopting a clear and predictable rule for determining when the PRA's statute of limitations is triggered. Moreover, the various factors articulated could be fairly categorized as the diligence of the requester (factors 1 and 5) and the bad faith of the agency (factors 2, 3, and 4). These factors are already considered in the context of equitable tolling. See Fowler v. Guerin, 200 Wn.2d 110, 119, 515 P.3d 502 (2022). And, for purposes of this case, Cousins had an opportunity to litigate equitable tolling. After losing on that issue in the superior court, she has abandoned any argument regarding equitable tolling on appeal.

Finally, Cousins asserts that the *Belenski* court "did not intend to limit an agency's liability." Cousins' Petition, at 15. However, a statute of limitations inherently places limits on liability and the Legislature expressly shortened the PRA's

statute of limitations from five years to one year. This kind of limitation on liability makes particular sense in the PRA context because the PRA's statute of limitations does not foreclose a requester's ability to get records—the core purpose of the PRA. *Cousins*, 523 P.3d at 890. After all, a requester can always resubmit a request. Instead, it merely places a time limit on the requester's ability to file a lawsuit seeking monetary penalties related to a specific request.

Therefore, this Court should deny review of the Court of Appeals' faithful application of case law from this Court and the Court of Appeals.

B. The Court of Appeals' Interpretation of the Statute of Limitations Does Not Present an Issue of Substantial Public Importance

This Court has emphasized the importance of speedy review of PRA claims. *Kilduff v. San Juan Cnty.*, 194 Wn.2d 859, 871, 453 P.3d 719 (2019) (rejecting exhaustion requirement and recognizing a requester can file suit when an agency denies a public records request). The PRA's relatively short one year

statute of limitations likewise ensures that PRA claims are addressed in a timely manner. This result is consistent with the important purposes of statutes of limitations more generally to provide finality and protect against stale claims. *See Stenberg v. Pac. Power & Light Co.*, 104 Wn.2d 710, 714, 709 P.2d 793 (1985). This need for clarity and finality led this Court to adopt an interpretation of the PRA's statute of limitations that applied to all possible responses by an agency to a public records request. *Belenski*, 186 Wn.2d at 460.⁷

Cousins argues that the Court of Appeals' consistent interpretation of the PRA's statute of limitations is an issue of substantial public importance because the rule encourages agencies to silently withhold records. Cousins' Petition, at 21. This argument presumes that agencies will knowingly violate the PRA. The Court should not make the presumption. *See, e.g.*,

⁷ To the extent Cousins believes the current one-year PRA statute of limitations should be altered, these arguments are best made to the Legislature.

State ex rel. Hodde v. Superior Court of Thurston Cnty., 40 Wn.2d 502, 515, 244 P.2d 668 (1952) ("It has long been the rule in this state that it is to be presumed that public officials act, or will act, within the limits of their authority and in good faith."). Courts should not base their interpretation of the PRA's statute of limitations on the proposition that agencies will knowingly violate the PRA.

In fact, Cousins does not explain how this policy argument makes sense under the facts of this case. As the Court of Appeals correctly noted, Cousins expressed almost immediate dissatisfaction with the Department's response, and she acknowledged that she knew that she had not received some records that she believed existed when the Department closed her request in January 2019. Cousins' Petition, at 7-8. There is no evidence that the Department intentionally delayed the production of responsive records to prevent Cousins from filing a timely lawsuit.

Additionally, Cousins' rule would punish the Department for producing records in 2020 by concluding that the Department's actions revived her time barred PRA claims. Cousins' proposed rule would incentivize agencies to not engage with a requester after the statute of limitations passed to avoid reviving a time barred claim. In other words, it would have the effect of discouraging communication and collaboration between the requester and agency.

Ultimately, an agency who intentionally withholds clearly responsive records in response to a PRA request runs the risk of a requester filing suit within the one year period and receiving substantial penalties. It also runs the risk of a court applying equitable tolling to an otherwise time barred claim based on the agency's bad faith. Existing case law does not incentivize agencies to intentionally withhold records as a result. And the superior court here correctly rejected the application of equitable tolling. Thus, this case does not present an issue of substantial public interest warranting this Court's review.

C. Review to Address the Discovery Rule Is Not Warranted When Application of a Discovery Rule Would Not Render Cousins' Claims Timely

Cousins' argument that the discovery rule should apply in PRA cases, Cousins' Petition, at 22-27, does not warrant this Court's review. It finds no support in the case law, would not affect the outcome of this case, and in any event is not preserved for appeal.

Courts do not adopt a discovery rule for a statute of limitations when the Legislature has clearly delineated the event that starts the running of a limitations period. *In re Parentage of C.S.*, 134 Wn. App. 141, 139 P.3d 366 (2006). Since the Public Records Act—at that time called the Public Disclosure Act—was adopted in 1972, no appellate court had applied a discovery rule to a PRA claim. This Court was faced with an argument for a discovery rule in *Belenski*, Br. of Pet., at 11-16, *Belenski v. Jefferson Cnty.*, 186 Wn.2d 452 (2016), but it declined to adopt such a rule. And since at least 2018, the Court of Appeals has rejected the application of a discovery rule to the PRA. *See*

Strickland v. Pierce Cnty., No. 75203-1-I, 2 Wn. App. 2d 1018, 2018 WL 582446, at *5-6 (2018). Although the PRA has been amended a number of times over the years, including amendments to the statute of limitations, the Legislature has not added a discovery rule to the PRA. This Court should not grant review to adopt such a rule.

Moreover, this case would be a particularly poor vehicle to adopt a discovery rule because applying a discovery rule would not result in Cousins' claims being timely. Under a discovery rule, a cause of action accrues when the plaintiff knew or should have known the essential elements of a cause of action. *Dotson*, 13 Wn. App. 2d at 472. In this case, Cousins was aware that the Department had closed the request on January 17, 2019, and she was aware of the records that the Department had

⁸ This case is unpublished. Consistent with GR 14.1, the Department informs the Court that this decision has no precedential value, is not binding on any court, and is cited only as persuasive authority as the Court deems appropriate. *Crosswhite v. Wash. State Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs.*, 197 Wn. App. 539, 544, 389 P.3d 731 (2017).

produced. CP 1370. She also has indicated that she was almost immediately aware of records that she believed should have been produced. Cousins' Petition, at 7-8. Yet she waited twenty-three months after she knew the essential elements of her cause of action to file her lawsuit. As such, her claims would still be untimely, even with a discovery rule.

Finally, Cousins did not make this discovery rule argument to the superior court. Courts do not generally consider arguments raised for the first time on appeal. RAP 2.5(a). In the superior court, Cousins focused her arguments on equitable tolling. The only reference to a discovery rule was buried in a footnote in one of her briefs. CP 619. The Court of Appeals decision recognized that Cousins had not argued for a discovery rule in the superior court, although it nonetheless dismissed the argument based on pre-existing case law. *Cousins*, 523 P.3d at 890. Cousins' unpreserved discovery rule argument does not warrant this Court's review.

IV. CONCLUSION

Because the Court of Appeals faithfully applied existing case law and its decision does not present issues of substantial public importance, the Court should deny Cousins' petition for review.

This document contains 4,562 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.